
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

EASTERN DIVISION 
 

JOHN P. RYAN, a Missouri resident, ) 
      ) 
  Plaintiff,   ) 
      ) Case No. 
vs.      )   
      ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF THE ) 
ST. LOUIS REGION AND SOUTHWEST ) 
MISSOURI, a Missouri corporation,  ) 
      ) 
and       ) 
      ) 
CASEY SPIEGEL, a Missouri resident, ) 
      ) 

Defendants.    ) 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff John P. Ryan, for his Complaint against Planned Parenthood of the St. Louis 

Region and Southwest Missouri and Casey Spiegel, states: 

Introduction 

1. This case arises from a malicious lie:  Planned Parenthood’s claim that Plaintiff 

John P. Ryan said to Defendant Casey Spiegel, a Planned Parenthood employee, that there were 

several bombs planted in Planned Parenthood’s abortion clinic in the City of St. Louis.  

2. Based solely on this malicious lie, Mr. Ryan was arrested, searched, handcuffed 

and transported in a police vehicle, charged with a felony connected to making a bomb threat, 

held for 36 hours, and required to post bond to be released from jail.  His bond conditions 

prohibited him from protesting and sidewalk counseling outside the Planned Parenthood clinic—

activities vitally important to Mr. Ryan and religiously motivated—until he was eventually 

vindicated by a jury of his peers 18 months later.  

Case: 4:18-cv-01592-RWS   Doc. #:  1   Filed: 09/20/18   Page: 1 of 23 PageID #: 1



 2 

3. This matter should never have been brought to trial. The Circuit Attorney for the 

City of St. Louis presented the matter to a grand jury, which issued a No True Bill on the felony 

charge. Four witnesses overheard the brief encounter between Mr. Ryan and Ms. Spiegel and 

confirmed that Mr. Ryan never made a bomb threat. Mr. Ryan passed a polygraph test during 

which he denied the allegations. Videos of the encounter belied the allegations by showing no 

immediate reaction or emergency measures taken by Ms. Spiegel or other Planned Parenthood 

employees consistent with a bomb threat: Ms. Spiegel calmly walked past Mr. Ryan and into the 

Planned Parenthood clinic on the morning in question; there was never an evacuation of the 

building consistent with an effort to protect personnel from harm by a bomb. And Planned 

Parenthood itself later voluntarily dismissed a lawsuit seeking extension of a restraining order 

because it would have required an adversarial evidentiary hearing.  

4. Nevertheless, Planned Parenthood, Spiegel, the police officers from the St. Louis 

Metropolitan Police Department and the Circuit Attorney, in cooperation and concert with one 

another, maintained and pressed these false allegations for as long as they could, in order to keep 

Mr. Ryan away from protesting and sidewalk counseling at the clinic and to bolster Defendants’ 

efforts to induce the City of St. Louis Board of Alderman to enact an anti-protestor “buffer-zone” 

ordinance.  

5. No one from Planned Parenthood, the Police Department or the Circuit Attorney’s 

office believed the allegations against Mr. Ryan to be true. No reasonable person could have 

believed the allegations to be true. Defendant Spiegel, Planned Parenthood’s CEO Mary Kogut, 

the police who arrested Mr. Ryan, and the prosecutors who charged and prosecuted Mr. Ryan all 

believed the allegations against him to be untrue. 

6. Mr. Ryan now seeks recompense for the deprivation of his federal constitutional 
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rights under the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments, and state-law rights to be free and 

unharmed by malicious prosecution, defamation, and civil conspiracy. 

Parties and Jurisdiction 

7. Plaintiff John P. Ryan is a resident of Franklin County, Missouri. 

8. Defendant Planned Parenthood of the St. Louis Region and Southwest Missouri is 

a Missouri corporation with its principal place of business in the City of St. Louis. 

9. Defendant Casey Spiegel is, upon information and belief, a resident of St. Louis 

County, Missouri. 

10. Plaintiff seeks redress for federal constitutional violations pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

1983. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1331 and 1343(3). 

11. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction to grant relief on state-law claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1367.  

Factual History 

12. Mr. Ryan is married, with six children and eleven grandchildren. He is employed 

as a social worker with the United States Department of Veterans Affairs. His job duties involve 

counseling veterans who suffer from post-traumatic stress disorder. 

13. Mr. Ryan believes that abortion wrongfully destroys the life of an unborn child 

and is contrary to his sincerely-held religious beliefs. 

14. In accordance with these beliefs, Mr. Ryan is a long-time abortion protestor, as 

well as a pro-life advocate and activist. His acts of protest and sidewalk counseling are acts of 

sincere religious conduct. 

15. Mr. Ryan associates with faith-based ministries that provide abortion-alternatives 

counseling, financial and moral support, and baby or maternity clothing and items to young 
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women with unwanted pregnancies who feel that abortion is their only option because of 

financial or other pressures. 

16. Mr. Ryan, as part of his work with these ministries, has maintained a regular and 

lawful presence on Saturday mornings outside Missouri’s only abortion clinic, Defendant 

Planned Parenthood of the St. Louis Region and Southwest Missouri (Planned Parenthood) 

located at 4251 Forest Park Avenue, St. Louis, MO 63108. 

17. On these Saturday mornings, Mr. Ryan typically stands on the public sidewalk 

near the clinic. He audibly expresses his views to employees, as well as visitors and patients, 

who pass by. 

18. Although Mr. Ryan is only one of several protestors and sidewalk counselors who 

congregate outside the clinic, Planned Parenthood’s employees have manifested particular 

dislike for Mr. Ryan. 

19. During 2015 and 2016, Planned Parenthood began to take a more aggressive 

approach in dealing with Mr. Ryan. 

20. In December 2015, Planned Parenthood’s policy and advocacy manager 

communicated with a “greeter” at an abortion clinic in the Metro East about a letter-writing 

campaign directed to the Director of the St. Louis’ Veterans Affairs hospitals. The objective of 

the campaign was to convince the Director of Veterans Affairs to fire Mr. Ryan from his social 

worker employment. 

21. In June 2016, Planned Parenthood complained to the St. Louis Metropolitan 

Police Department, falsely claiming that Mr. Ryan was impeding the flow of automobile traffic 

into the Planned Parenthood clinic parking lot in violation of a St. Louis City ordinance.  

22. The claim of impeding traffic was made after a Planned Parenthood security 
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guard nearly struck Mr. Ryan with his car while the guard was turning from the street into the 

clinic’s parking lot. Mr. Ryan had been talking with a visitor and had his back turned to the street 

and the security guard’s vehicle. Ryan was not trying to block access to the parking lot. 

23. Planned Parenthood’s complaint to the police led to an ordinance violation charge 

being filed. Mr. Ryan stood for trial on the impeding traffic offense in December 2017 and was 

found not guilty. 

24. In late 2016, Planned Parenthood’s actions directed against Mr. Ryan became 

even more serious. 

25. In mid-December 2016, Planned Parenthood began discussing, in its employees’ 

words, a “strategy” for dealing with Mr. Ryan while at the same time using his activities to 

support the enactment of a buffer zone ordinance.  

26. This strategy was conducted with the assistance of NARAL Pro-Choice Missouri 

(NARAL), which provided “opposition research” about protestors and helped draft and gather 

support for anti-protestor legislation. NARAL, which stands for “National Abortion Rights 

Action League,” supplies escorts for patients of Planned Parenthood to guide them away from 

protesters and into the Planned Parenthood abortion clinic, and to interfere with communication 

between pro-life counselors like Mr. Ryan and the clinic patients. 

27. Planned Parenthood targeted Mr. Ryan not only because its employees believed 

he was interfering with the clinic’s activities and revenues, but also because Planned Parenthood 

needed to build support for an anti-protestor ordinance that was soon to be introduced to the City 

Board of Aldermen.  

28. Also in mid-December 2016, Planned Parenthood’s chief executive officer, Ms. 

Mary Kogut, met with her staff and told them that Planned Parenthood was working on a “buffer 
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zone” ordinance and other ways to limit protestors. The sought-after buffer zone would require 

protestors and sidewalk counselors to stay a certain distance away from the entrance to Planned 

Parenthood, as well as the driveway going into the clinic’s parking lot.  

29. Ms. Casey Spiegel, a nurse practitioner and Defendant, attended the meeting. 

30. On December 27, 2016, a City alderwoman called Ms. Kogut to update her about 

the soon-to-be-proposed buffer zone ordinance. 

31. On December 29, 2016, the news media reported that St. Louis City alderwomen 

Christine Ingrassia and Megan Green, in partnership with NARAL Pro-Choice Missouri, planned 

to introduce an ordinance requiring that protesters at Planned Parenthood would have to start 

staying a certain distance away from the clinic. See, e.g., Michelle London, ‘Safe zones’ could 

come to STL Planned Parenthood, KSDK.com, December 29, 2016.1 The same members of the 

Board of Aldermen also introduced anti-discrimination legislation at about this time in order to 

make the City of St. Louis a “sanctuary city” for reproductive rights. Sarah Fenske, Buffer Zone 

Bill Shielding St. Louis' Abortion Clinic Returns to Board of Aldermen, Riverfront Times, May 

22, 2017.2 Planned Parenthood, which has its own political advocacy group, was aware of and 

supported these efforts and gave a statement for the KSDK.com article referenced above. 

32. Two days after these media reports, on the morning of Saturday, December 31, 

2016, Defendant Spiegel walked past Mr. Ryan, who already was on the public sidewalk along 

Forest Park Parkway, and then into the clinic to report to work. 

33. Ms. Spiegel is on record as stating that for the more than three years she has 

                                                
1 https://www.ksdk.com/article/news/local/safe-zones-could-come-to-stl-planned-parenthood/63-
380030949. 
2 https://www.riverfronttimes.com/newsblog/2017/05/22/buffer-zone-bill-shielding-st-louis-
abortion-clinic-returns-to-board-of-aldermen  
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worked at Planned Parenthood, she has known Mr. Ryan and has wanted him to be “banned” 

from the vicinity of the Planned Parenthood clinic. 

34. Ms. Spiegel also knew that the City was more likely to pass the buffer zone 

ordinance if there were reports of protestor violence. 

35. On the morning of December 31, 2016, Ms. Spiegel entered the clinic building 

and walked past two security guards, saying nothing to either guard about an alleged threat by 

Mr. Ryan.   

36. Ms. Spiegel then reported to another employee of Planned Parenthood that Mr. 

Ryan had loudly and clearly said to her just a moment ago that there were seven bombs in the 

building. 

37. Ms. Spiegel was acting within the course and scope of her employment when she 

reported a bomb threat to this employee of Planned Parenthood. 

38. Mr. Ryan has at all times denied making any such statement to Ms. Spiegel. He 

has never made a bomb threat at any time in his entire life. 

39. Several witnesses would later testify at the criminal trial that they were close 

enough to hear what Mr. Ryan said to Defendant Spiegel, and that he did not make a bomb 

threat. 

40. After additional discussions with other Planned Parenthood employees, including 

Ms. Mary Kogut, about an alleged bomb threat by Mr. Ryan, Planned Parenthood reported the 

incident to the police. 

41. Planned Parenthood officers and employees did not evacuate the building at any 

time that day as a result of an alleged bomb threat or any other threat to public safety.  
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42. Instead Planned Parenthood and its staff continued receiving, accepting, 

counseling, and treating patients, notwithstanding the alleged threat. 

43. When the police arrived, Planned Parenthood lied to patients about why the police 

were there. Planned Parenthood did not inform its patients that there had been a bomb threat. 

44. The police officers who arrived at Planned Parenthood arrested Mr. Ryan, 

searched his person for any weapons and illegal substances, placed him in handcuffs, and 

transported him in a police vehicle to the police station. The police charged Mr. Ryan with a 

felony count of making a terroristic threat.  

45. The police failed to view any of the multiple video views of the incident, despite 

those videos being well-known to the police and readily and immediately available. 

46. Neither the police nor the Circuit Attorney’s Office ever interviewed any of the 

witnesses who were standing in close proximity to Mr. Ryan and Ms. Spiegel when the alleged 

bomb threat was made.  

47. These witnesses would eventually testify at the criminal trial that Mr. Ryan did 

not make a bomb threat that day. 

48. After his arrest, which was on New Year’s Eve, Mr. Ryan spent approximately 36 

hours in police custody, the remainder of New Year’s Eve and most of New Year’s Day. This 

included time in a jail cell at the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department. On information and 

belief, Mr. Ryan’s clothing was never tested by police for bomb parts or residue or traces of 

explosives. On information and belief, Mr. Ryan’s automobile and residence were never 

searched by police for bomb parts or residue or traces of explosives. 

49. The felony charges against Mr. Ryan caused damaging press coverage and 

adverse headlines, including many reports that still exist online today. See, e.g,. Sarah Fenske, 
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“Pro-Life Activist John Ryan Faces Terrorism Charge Over Threat to St. Louis Planned 

Parenthood Clinic,” Riverfront Times, January 4, 2017,3 and Nassim Benchaabane, “Man told 

St. Louis Planned Parenthood employee there were bombs in building, police say,” St. Louis 

Post-Dispatch, January 4, 2017.4 

50. Just four days after the incident and arrest involving Mr. Ryan at Planned 

Parenthood, the aforementioned Alderwoman Ingrassia posted on her Twitter account a link to 

the news story regarding Mr. Ryan’s arrest and criminal charges, and wrote “Here’s exactly why 

we need a new law to protect women, employees and escorts.”5 Ingrassia also included a link to 

the KSDK.com article cited above. Alderwoman Megan Green similarly made a post on her 

Facebook account citing Mr. Ryan’s arrest as support for the buffer-zone ordinance. The St. 

Louis Metropolitan Police Department also used the false charges against Mr. Ryan to support 

the buffer-zone ordinance. 

51. Unless he wanted to remain in jail pending his criminal trial, Mr. Ryan had to 

comply with bond restrictions that required him to stay away from the Planned Parenthood clinic 

and property, meaning Mr. Ryan could no longer exercise his constitutional rights to protest or 

counsel at the site while the criminal case was pending. 

52. Shortly thereafter, Planned Parenthood used Ms. Spiegel’s false allegations as a 

basis for obtaining, in a civil proceeding, a temporary restraining order against Mr. Ryan. 

53. Planned Parenthood’s motion for a temporary restraining order, supported by an 

affidavit from Ms. Spiegel, was granted on January 9, 2017. However, Planned Parenthood 

                                                
3 https://www.riverfronttimes.com/newsblog/2017/01/04/pro-life-activist-john-ryan-faces-
terrorism-charge-over-threat-to-st-louis-planned-parenthood-clinic. 
4 https://www.stltoday.com/news/local/crime-and-courts/man-told-st-louis-planned-parenthood-
employee-there-were-bombs/article_c7336dcc-b2da-5eec-bc85-786f287c25b7.html.  
5 https://twitter.com/chryssi/status/816693316058234880. 
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voluntarily dismissed its lawsuit against Mr. Ryan on March 7, 2017, just before it would have 

had to present evidence at an adversarial evidentiary hearing to justify converting the temporary 

restraining order into a preliminary injunction. See Notice of Voluntary Dismissal, Exhibit 1 to 

this Complaint. 

54. Mr. Ryan took a polygraph examination on January 16, 2017, in which he was 

asked whether he used the word bomb or bombs in speaking to Ms. Spiegel and whether he told 

Ms. Spiegel that there were bombs inside Planned Parenthood. He answered “no” to each 

question. Mr. Ryan passed the examination. 

55. Both Planned Parenthood and the St. Louis City Circuit Attorney’s Office, which 

was handling the felony criminal case against Mr. Ryan, were timely informed of the polygraph 

results. 

56. There are videos of the brief encounter between Mr. Ryan and Ms. Spiegel, from 

multiple angles. The videos unquestionably and irrefutably show that Ms. Spiegel had no 

reaction whatsoever as she passed Mr. Ryan. Rather, she maintained her stride as she walked 

directly into the Planned Parenthood building. Ms. Spiegel’s body language was not fearful, nor 

did her stride change, as would be natural of one having just heard a bomb threat. 

57. Despite these videos, and despite Planned Parenthood voluntarily dismissing its 

temporary restraining order lawsuit against Mr. Ryan, and despite the polygraph results and 

multiple adverse witnesses, Planned Parenthood insisted that the Circuit Attorney press ahead 

with the criminal felony case.  

58. The felony charge was presented to a grand jury, and on April 7, 2017, a No True 

Bill was filed by the Circuit Attorney’s Office stating that “this matter has been presented to the 
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St. Louis Circuit Court Grand Jury and the State has insufficient evidence to obtain a 

conviction.” See No True Bill, Exhibit 2 to this Complaint. 

59. Planned Parenthood knew about the No True Bill but continued to insist that the 

Circuit Attorney press a criminal charge against Mr. Ryan. 

60. Despite the No True Bill, the videos, the witnesses, the polygraph examination, 

and the voluntary dismissal of Planned Parenthood’s restraining order lawsuit in order to avoid 

an adversarial evidentiary hearing, the Circuit Attorney’s Office refiled criminal charges against 

Mr. Ryan, this time charging him with the misdemeanor of making a terroristic threat.  

61. The Circuit Attorney, Kim Gardner, has been an advocate for Planned Parenthood 

in the past. See Exhibit 3 to this Complaint. 

62. The misdemeanor charge carried the same bond restrictions as the prior felony 

count, meaning Mr. Ryan was still unable to protest or counsel at Planned Parenthood or 

otherwise exercise his constitutional rights. 

63. One year passed. A jury trial finally commenced on May 21, 2018, on the 

misdemeanor charge. After a three-day trial in which the Circuit Attorney’s Office called several 

Planned Parenthood employees as witnesses—including Ms. Spiegel and Ms. Kogut—the jury 

quickly returned a verdict of not guilty. 

64. The only person who is alleged to have heard Mr. Ryan make the statement about 

the bombs in the Planned Parenthood building is Defendant Spiegel. 

65. Following reports by the news media about Ms. Spiegel’s allegations, the two 

alderwomen who were the principal sponsors of the buffer-zone ordinance posted on social 

media that Mr. Ryan’s bomb threat was the reason that creating the buffer zone was necessary. 
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66. Ms. Spiegel’s false allegation, and the Circuit Attorney Office’s unquestioning 

and unreasonable reliance on the uncorroborated and biased allegation, despite overwhelming 

evidence that it was false, led to the result Planned Parenthood had sought all along, namely: Mr. 

Ryan was compelled to stay away from the public property near the Planned Parenthood clinic 

for almost a year-and-a-half by virtue of his bond conditions. The restraints did not lift until Mr. 

Ryan was acquitted at the criminal trial.  

67. Mr. Ryan’s constitutional rights were violated when he was arrested, searched, 

and detained for approximately 36 hours against his will. 

68. Ms. Spiegel and Planned Parenthood’s false allegations, and their pursuit, in 

conjunction and in concert with the Circuit Attorney’s Office, of criminal charges against Mr. 

Ryan based on those allegations and nothing more violated Mr. Ryan’s constitutional rights by 

stifling his right to protest, vital to his religious beliefs.   

69. Planned Parenthood’s actions which, in cooperation and concert with the Circuit 

Attorney’s Office and the police officers, violated Mr. Ryan’s constitutional rights, were taken as 

a result of the policy and/or custom of Planned Parenthood. 

70. Said policy and/or custom was made by Planned Parenthood’s chief executive 

officer, Mary Kogut, whose edicts or acts represent official policy of Planned Parenthood. 

71. Despite overwhelming evidence that there had been no bomb threat, Ms. Kogut 

decided to have Planned Parenthood contact the police and report the false allegations against 

Mr. Ryan, and she later decided to insist that the Circuit Attorney’s office persist with its 

prosecution. 
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72. Ms. Kogut and Ms. Spiegel would eventually testify for the prosecution in the 

jury trial of Mr. Ryan. The jury obviously did not believe either Ms. Kogut or Ms. Spiegel, as 

Mr. Ryan was acquitted.  

State Action 

73. Planned Parenthood, including Ms. Spiegel, Ms. Kogut, and other Planned 

Parenthood employees, acted in coordination and concert with, as well as conspired with, the St. 

Louis Circuit Attorney’s Office and Kim Gardner, Circuit Attorney, along with certain police 

officers of the City of St. Louis, to bring about violations of the United States Constitution 

harmful to Mr. Ryan, and such coordinated and concerted actions are attributable to the 

Defendants as state actors within the meaning of the state action doctrine of the Fourteenth 

Amendment and under color of state law within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. 1983. 

74. Plaintiff is not suing the Circuit Attorney’s Office, its employees, or the police 

officers involved in this incident. Their immunity defenses may or may not be meritorious, but 

they would surely be raised. Plaintiff does not want this case held up or the judgment delayed 

because the Court has to rule on such defenses.  

FEDERAL CLAIMS 

COUNT I 
First Amendment 

Freedom of Speech 
 

75. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 

76. The First Amendment’s Freedom of Speech Clause, incorporated and made 

applicable to state and local governments by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, prohibits abridging the freedom of speech. 
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77. Mr. Ryan, a pro-life protestor and advocate, was exercising his constitutional right 

to protest, advocate, do sidewalk counseling, and hand out literature on a public sidewalk when 

he was arrested. 

78. Because of the bond restrictions that are customary to the felony charge filed 

against Mr. Ryan by the Circuit Attorney at the insistence of Defendants, he was required to 

refrain from exercising his constitutional rights outside Planned Parenthood from the date he was 

arrested, December 31, 2016, until the date he was acquitted, May 23, 2018.  

79. During this 17-month period, Mr. Ryan’s First Amendment rights to protest, 

advocate, counsel, and hand out literature outside Planned Parenthood were thwarted, as 

Defendants had intended and planned. 

80. By conspiring to abridge said speech and expressive conduct, the Defendants have 

abridged Mr. Ryan’s constitutionally protected speech and expressive conduct. 

81. As a direct and proximate result of the violation of his free speech rights by the 

Defendants, Plaintiff suffered damages and is entitled to relief under 42 U.S.C 1983. 

82. The conduct of Defendants was outrageous, intentional, willful, wanton, and/or 

malicious, and otherwise showed a complete indifference to and/or a conscious disregard of Mr. 

Ryan’s free speech rights, such that punitive or exemplary damages should be imposed in an 

amount commensurate with the wrongful acts alleged above. 

COUNT II 
First Amendment  

Expressive Association 

83. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 
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84. The First Amendment recognizes and protects the right to freedom of expressive 

association.  

85. Mr. Ryan believes in the dignity and sanctity of human life, including the life of 

the unborn child and hence his opposition to abortion, and he associates with other likeminded 

people for the purpose of more effectively and persuasively expressing that viewpoint.  

86. As part of these beliefs and this association, Mr. Ryan—as well as other pro-life 

individuals—associate by gathering outside of Planned Parenthood on public property and 

protesting, doing sidewalk counseling, advocating, and handing out literature, as well as 

conferring with, praying with, and encouraging one another. 

87. Mr. Ryan’s association, congregation, and participation in protests and advocacy 

with individuals and groups who share his viewpoint and means of sharing that viewpoint are 

constitutionally protected so as to allow Mr. Ryan and others to engage in expressive association.  

88. By falsely reporting that Mr. Ryan made a bomb threat, and by acting in 

coordination and concert with prosecutors and police to criminally prosecute Mr. Ryan, 

Defendants thwarted Mr. Ryan’s right to association by keeping him away from Planned 

Parenthood for approximately 17 months. 

89. As a direct and proximate result of this violation of Mr. Ryan’s constitutional 

rights by the Defendants, Plaintiff suffered damages and is entitled to relief under 42 U.S.C 

1983. 

90. The conduct of Defendants was willful, malicious, oppressive, and/or reckless, 

and was of such a nature that punitive or exemplary damages should be imposed in an amount 

commensurate with the wrongful acts alleged above. 
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COUNT III 
First Amendment 

Free Exercise of Religion 
 

91. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 

92. The First Amendment’s Free Exercise of Religion Clause, incorporated and made 

applicable to state and local governmental action by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution, prohibits burdening the free exercise of religion. 

93. Mr. Ryan has a sincere religious belief that abortion is the wrongful killing of an 

unborn child. He manifests and otherwise practices that religious belief by, inter alia, peacefully 

protesting outside the Planned Parenthood property in the City of St. Louis, engaging in sidewalk 

counseling, otherwise communicating that religious belief to people going into or exiting that 

property, and fellowshipping with like-minded religious believers who are also peacefully 

protesting outside the Planned Parenthood property.  

94. Because of the actions alleged above, Defendants have intentionally and 

knowingly burdened Mr. Ryan’s religious beliefs and practices.  

95. Although the laws and ordinances utilized by Defendants and public officials to 

interfere with Mr. Ryan’s religious practice were facially neutral as to religion, the enforcement 

of those laws and ordinances was not. 

96. Because of the bond restrictions that are customary to the felony charge filed 

against Mr. Ryan by the Circuit Attorney, he was required to refrain from exercising his religious 

beliefs and practices outside the Planned Parenthood property from the date he was arrested, 

December 31, 2016, until the date he was acquitted, May 23, 2018.  
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97. During this 17 month period, Mr. Ryan’s First Amendment rights to sincere 

religious belief, and to practice his religion, outside Planned Parenthood were thwarted, as 

Defendants had intended and planned. 

98. By conspiring to burden Mr. Ryan’s religious belief, and the practice of that 

belief, the Defendants have substantially burdened his constitutionally-protected exercise of 

religion. 

99. As a direct and proximate result of the violation of his free exercise rights by the 

Defendants, Mr. Ryan suffered harm to his religious belief, as well as the practice thereof, and is 

entitled to relief under 42 U.S.C 1983. 

100. The conduct of Defendants was outrageous, intentional, willful, wanton, and/or 

malicious, and otherwise showed a complete indifference to and/or a conscious disregard of the 

free exercise of religion by Mr. Ryan, such that punitive or exemplary damages should be 

imposed in an amount commensurate with the wrongful acts alleged above.  

COUNT IV 
Fourth Amendment  

Unreasonable Searches and Seizures 
 

101. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 

102. Mr. Ryan’s constitutional right to be free from unreasonable searches and 

seizures under the Fourth Amendment was violated when he was wrongfully arrested on 

charges that he had made a bomb threat. Following his arrest, Mr. Ryan was searched for 

weapons and illegal substances, handcuffed, and put into a police vehicle and taken to the 

police station. Before being placed in a jail cell, Mr. Ryan was ordered to remove all clothing, 

jewelry, and his wallet. He was then issued a prison uniform.  
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103. In committing these acts of search and seizure, Defendants acted together in 

conspiracy with police officers of the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department, and thereby 

acted under color of state law to deprive Plaintiff of constitutionally-protected rights under the 

Fourth Amendment to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. 

104. St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department’s actions, at all times, constituted 

state action. 

105. Defendant Casey Spiegel, individually and in her capacity as an employee and 

agent of Planned Parenthood, acted in coordination, concert, and conspiracy with the St. Louis 

Metropolitan Police Department in violating the Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment rights. 

106. In violating Plaintiff’s rights as set forth above, Defendants acted in 

coordination and concert with those acting under color of state law to conduct an unauthorized 

and unreasonable search and seizure of Plaintiff in violation of the Fourth Amendment.  

107. As a direct and proximate result of the violations of his Fourth Amendment 

rights by the Defendants, Mr. Ryan suffered damages and is entitled to relief under 42 U.S.C 

1983. 

108. The conduct of Defendants was willful, malicious, oppressive, and/or reckless, 

and was of such a nature that punitive and exemplary damages should be imposed in an 

amount commensurate with the wrongful acts alleged above. 

STATE LAW CLAIMS 

COUNT V 
Malicious Prosecution 

109. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 

110. Planned Parenthood commenced a suit for injunctive relief and, in concert with 
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Defendants, the Circuit Attorney’s Office, and the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department, 

commenced two separate criminal proceedings against Mr. Ryan—a felony case and then a 

misdemeanor case.  

111. All three of these proceedings were instigated by Planned Parenthood and Ms. 

Spiegel, and the proceedings were dependent on Ms. Spiegel’s false allegation that Mr. Ryan 

made a bomb threat regarding the Planned Parenthood clinic. 

112. All three of these proceedings came to an end in favor of Mr. Ryan: Planned 

Parenthood voluntarily dismissed its temporary restraining order lawsuit before an adversarial 

evidentiary hearing could take place to renew the order; the felony case did not survive 

consideration by a grand jury; and the subsequent misdemeanor case was resolved by a verdict 

of not guilty. 

113. Planned Parenthood in the restraining order lawsuit, and the Circuit Attorney’s 

Office and the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department in the criminal cases, lacked probable 

cause for the lawsuit/prosecutions, as demonstrated by, among other things, the video 

evidence, the witnesses on the site, polygraph evidence, the No True Bill, Planned 

Parenthood’s voluntary dismissal of its restraining order lawsuit, and the several other 

circumstances and factors set forth above. 

114. Planned Parenthood and Ms. Spiegel, in concert with the Circuit Attorney’s 

Office and the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department, were motivated by and acted with 

actual malice in commencing and instigating the restraining order lawsuit and the criminal 

prosecutions. 

115. Planned Parenthood had long despised Mr. Ryan and strategized ways to 

exclude him from the public property near the site of the clinic, and Ms. Spiegel said that she 
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had always wanted Mr. Ryan “banned” from the property. 

116. The restraining order lawsuit and criminal prosecutions resulted in damage to 

Mr. Ryan in the form of attorney fees, as well as other litigation expenses and costs, the 

deprivation of constitutional rights, mental anguish, embarrassment, and harm to Mr. Ryan’s 

reputation.  

117. The conduct by Defendants was willful, oppressive, and the result of actual 

malice, and was of such a nature that punitive and/or exemplary damages should be imposed 

in an amount commensurate with the wrongful acts alleged above. 

COUNT VI 
Defamation 

118. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 

119. Defendant Casey Spiegel, individually and as an agent of Planned Parenthood, 

knowingly made a false allegation that Mr. Ryan said that there were seven bombs in the 

Planned Parenthood building. 

120. Defendant Spiegel made the allegation both orally to Planned Parenthood 

employees, later to police and prosecutors, and in writing in the form of an affidavit in support 

of Planned Parenthood’s application for a temporary restraining order against Mr. Ryan. 

121. The publishing of false allegations of criminal conduct is slander per se. 

122. The news media coverage, injunction lawsuit and the prosecutions that resulted 

from the defamatory statements resulted in damage to Mr. Ryan in the form of attorney fees, 

additional litigation expenses and costs, the deprivation of constitutional rights, mental 

anguish, embarrassment, and harm to Mr. Ryan’s reputation.  

123. The conduct of Defendants was outrageous, intentional, willful, wanton, and/or 
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malicious, and otherwise showed a complete indifference to or a conscious disregard of the 

rights of Mr. Ryan, such that punitive and/or exemplary damages are appropriate and 

warranted. 

COUNT VII 
Civil Conspiracy 

124. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs of this 

Complaint, as if fully set forth in this Count. 

125. There was a meeting of the minds between Planned Parenthood, Casey Spiegel, 

the Circuit Attorney’s Office, and the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department with the 

unlawful objective of arresting and prosecuting Mr. Ryan and otherwise keeping Mr. Ryan 

away from the public areas near the Planned Parenthood property. 

126. Defendants’ statements to police and prosecutors alleging that Mr. Ryan had 

made a bomb threat were false, defamatory, and unlawful acts in furtherance of the conspiracy. 

127. Defendants’ false statement against Mr. Ryan resulted in a benefit to 

Defendants, namely: Mr. Ryan was forced to refrain from protesting and advocating at 

Planned Parenthood for approximately 18 months. Additionally, they used the spurious claims 

against Mr. Ryan as an example to support the pending “buffer zone” ordinance. 

128. The news media coverage, restraining order lawsuit, and prosecutions that 

resulted from the conspiracy caused damage to Mr. Ryan in the form of attorney fees, other 

litigation expenses and costs, deprivation of constitutional rights, mental anguish, 

embarrassment, and harm to Mr. Ryan’s reputation. 

129. The conduct of Defendants was outrageous, intentional, willful, wanton, and/or 

malicious, and otherwise showed a complete indifference to or a conscious disregard of the 

rights of Mr. Ryan, such that punitive damages are appropriate and warranted. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, the Plaintiff requests that the Court: 

a. Award Plaintiff actual and compensatory damages from Defendants, jointly and 

severally; 

b. Award Plaintiff punitive and exemplary damages as allowed by law; 

c. Award Plaintiff the costs of defending prior cases resulting from Defendants’ 

actions, including reasonable attorney fees and expert witness fees; 

d. Award Plaintiff the costs of this action, as well as reasonable attorney fees and 

expert witness fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1988, and as otherwise provided by law; 

and 

e. Award such other and further relief as the Court deems proper and just. 

       

      THOMAS MORE SOCIETY 

          /s/ Sarah E. Pitlyk______________ 
Sarah E. Pitlyk #MO-60670 
Thomas Brejcha 
Peter Breen 
309 West Washington Street, Suite 1250 
Chicago, IL 60606 
Phone: (312) 782-1680 
Facsimile: (312) 782-1887 
pitlyk@thomasmoresociety.org 
 
OTTSEN, LEGGAT AND BELZ, L.C. 

 
          /s/ J. Matthew Belz______________ 

J. Matthew Belz #MO-61088 
112 South Hanley, Second Floor 
St. Louis, Missouri 63105-3418 
Phone: (314) 726-2800 
Facsimile: (314) 863-3821 

      jmbelz@olblaw.com 
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FELLOWS & BLAKE, L.L.C. 
 
/s/ Brad L. Blake    
Brad L. Blake #MO-38340 
13421 Manchester Road, Suite 105 
St. Louis, Missouri 63131 
Phone: (314) 725-1600  
Facsimile: (314) 725-1609 
bblake@fellowsblakelaw.com 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff, John P. Ryan 
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